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the first word
. . .

Anyone who deals with young people knows how quickly the collective

memory evaporates. Through the years I've learned to presume nothing
about their knowledge of the historical contexts of the films in our syllabus.
Casablanca, for example, may be confusing without some knowledge of Vi-

chy France and its relationship to the Nazis in Occupied France, and I have to

make time for a brief lesson on the history of World War 11. In school Ameri-

cans learn about D-Day and Iwo Jima, but not much about El Alamein or To-

bruk. This lacuna should come as no surprise to anyone who does a bit of

mental arithmetic on their ages and the dates of the war. The events took place
too long ago for them to remember and are too insignificant for them to have

covered in their high-school survey of world history.

But this may come as a bit of a shock. If a morning class falls on Sep-
tember 11,1 start with a moment of silence to commemorate those who lost

their lives on that dreadful day. In the last couple of years, I've felt the need to

provide some rationale for this unusual practice. Freshmen were eight or nine

years old when it happened, and although constant reference to the date in

connection with all manner of policy decisions has certainly made 9 /11 a fa-

miliar phrase, much of the horror has simply faded from the public conscious-

ness of the young. They may have some notion of the connection between the

event and the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan, but little appreciation of the vis-

ceral effect it had—and continues to have—on those of us who lived through
it. Had I been in New York at the time, I could have seen the plumes of smoke

over the World Trade Center from the baseball diamonds I used to play on. I

still get a queasy feeling when I see images of the twin towers in older films

or television programs.

Keeping history alive is a constant challenge, and, paradoxically, the

more recent the history the more challenging. As new generations arise, key
events in the lives of the older ones slip into irrelevance all too easily. In the

Church, the Vatican II age has morphed into to the age of John Paul 11. In

the Society, a few of us Janssensites still remain on the scene, while the Ar-

rupe generation has become the elders of the tribe and the Kolvenbach people
have assumed the leadership positions. Four Stories of the Kolvenbach Genera-

tion (Studies 42/1, Spring 2010) came as a bit of a shock to me, and surely to
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other readers as well. I didn't appreciate the fact that Jesuits now knocking on

the door of middle age had no first-hand experience of the generalate of Pe-

dro Arrupe. The Society that became rapidly transformed under his leader-

ship is the only Society they have ever known. Stories of "the long black line"

tramping through endless corridors in isolated country seminaries, litanies,

and monthly permissions strike them as embellished folklore. Just as well. The

angry divisiveness that marked some areas of Jesuit life in those days is well

put behind us and forgotten. We are where we are. No need to dredge up the

past. The present and the future provide challenges enough to test our psychic

energies.

What follows may violate that principle, but there is a reasonable expla-

nation, or excuse. In this issue of Studies, Bart Geger provides a meticulously
documented narrative about the first companions of St. Ignatius, their uneasy

relationship in starting anew kind of religious order, and the effect their de-

partures had on both the Founder and the Society. It's a fascinating story in its

own right, but it stirred recollections of that frighteningperiod in my own life

when the Church and the Society had begun to feel the impact of the Council.

The number of departures from religious life and priesthood reached a scale

incomprehensible to many of us now. Yet is important to try to comprehend
what the exodus meant to us then and whether it has left any lingering effect

on us, individually or corporately. Although first-person narratives have their

limitations—the word "narcissistic" may occur to some readers—they do offer

an effective way to re-create the sense of a period of time, even if from one per-

son's possibly unreliable perspective. The center of the narrative covers only
the few months before my ordination in 1969, but of course it extends beyond
that time into the turbulent " 'Sixties."

Departures from the Society were part of Jesuit life from the candidacy.
As novices, we used the term "checking," an in-house abbreviation of "check-

ing out," as from a Holiday Inn. At St. Andrew on Hudson, they were a secre-

tive affair. The man disappeared during noonexamen, changed from his habit

to entry clothes and was driven to the train station while the community was

at lunch. During afternoon laborandum, Brother Sub removed his chair, kneel-

er, and desk. No notes were posted; nothing was said; he ceased to exist, as

though he never had. It seems the sight of a departing classmate might have

been considered a threat to the vocations of those so new to religious life. A

few left during philosophy, as well, and as I recall a few more decided not to

return to studies after their regency. We missed some friends, naturally, but

there were so many of us that the period of mourning was short, and no one

ever conceived that one or two fewer Jesuits would have an impact on the So-

ciety in any way. Business as usual. Replaceable parts.

Woodstock in 1966 was a wonderful experience. While the outside

world was beginning the convulsions of its national nervous breakdown—-

drugs, rock 'n' roll, the pill, the draft resistance, "don't trust anyone over thir-
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ty"—seminary life held steady more or less. During my first year, cassocks

and daily order vanished, we had a rathskeller in the basement where both

faculty and scholastics could join together in the evening to solve the world's

problems over a pitcher of beer and a bowl of pretzels, the curriculum was

updated to make it compatible with other divinity and graduate schools, elec-

tives were introduced, and we were free to design our own summer projects
and vacations. We certainly felt in step with the changes and openness en-

dorsed by the Council. There was significant change, but the center held. A

few more scholastics left us. I recall a few as being dismayed by the collapse of

the old structures. "I'm not leaving the Society; the Society left me," they said,

but it didn't sound very convincing. As Gerry McKevitt pointed out in his

study of aging in the Society (The Gifts of Aging, Studies 43/3, Autumn 2011),

this attitude of negative reaction to the new forms of religious life seemed

more commonin men somewhat older than we. Some left, he notes, but a few

remained to nurture their bitterness. My contemporaries, for the most part,
had not yet become hardened in the old ways and were quite happy with Eng-
lish liturgies, seminar rooms instead of lecture halls, and sport shirts.

In the subsequent two years, as I try to piece the story together, it seemed

the unrest became more palpable, and departures more frequent. While it was

scarcely unusual for a scholastic to leave, we had the impression that Holy Or-

ders solved the vocation question once and for all. I think I knew of only one

priest who left. That situation changed rapidly and dramatically. As we pre-

pared for our own ordinations, one of our professors told us that if we thought

celibacy was going to be a problem, we should go ahead, since the regulation
would change within three years. Within a year he left to marry. Other facul-

ty members chose other commitments, as did scholastics in greater numbers.

Choice rooms, once the prerogative of fourth-year fathers, became readily

available, even for first-year students. Gallows humor became commonplace:
deck chairs on the Titanic, last one out turn out the lights, and so on.

Now this is the center of the narrative. Early in the summer of 1968,1

traveled to St. Louis for a conference on theology and the arts. Two events stick

out in my mind. One, a miserable intestinal virus hit, and I felt death a close

companion. One of the kindly natives took me over to Fusz where the brother

infirmarian for the scholastics gave me some potion to quiet the upheaval. He

advised me to drink room-temperature Coca Cola until I felt up to solid food.

During the recovery I was pretty much confined to quarters in the old Corona-

do Hotel, but on one foray for sustenance, I noticed a crowd gathered around

a television set. Someone told me, "Kennedy has been shot." That was the sec-

ond trauma. Thoughts of November 1963 came rushing back. Not again! It

couldn't be true. It was simply depressing.

After these twin assaults on my spirits, I arrived in Chicago to continue

gathering credits toward my degree. Summer school was big business dur-

ing this period, and many priests and religious formed a transient community
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around the Newman Center. Some of us were in similar programs and knew

one another from class. The circle grew through friends of friends. We met for

lunch. It was a supportive social network. Soon after I landed, I called a good
Jesuit friend then living in another part of the city. Getting together for brat

and beer at Berghoff's would be a good start to the summer. After some dis-

creet questions to establish my identity, the man who answered the phone,
told me he had left. I called a sister with the idea of catching up over a cup

of coffee before classes started. She asked be to come over to her convent that

very afternoon. The reason: she was leaving the next day. A Jesuit doing stud-

ies during regency told me he was having second thoughts about going to the-

ology. And so it went.

As the summer term began, I moved into an apartment near campus

with a Jesuit from the Maryland Province. Within a short time, he received

word that his provincial had left the Society, apparently with the intention of

marriage. Over the next few days, the phone rang incessantly. Standard ru-

mor theory: people are always eager to share bad news. During the same sum-

mer, Humanse Vitse came out. The ban on artificial contraception took many in

the Church by surprise, and the reaction was furious. Some moral theologians
were defiant; some bishops were draconian in their response. Many sought a

middle ground, but the middle seemed ever more difficult to locate. As the

summer wound down, the Democrats met in Chicago. Robert Kennedy, the

obvious response to Lyndon Johnson's war policy, was gone. With no spokes-

man, anti-war demonstrators took to the streets, and as the convention turned

to Johnson's vice-president, Hubert Humphrey, the demonstrators clashed

with police, in what has been termed a "police riot." It seemed not only the

Society and the Church were entering a state of meltdown, but the entire coun-

try was falling apart.

The climax of that insane summer came as we closed out the apartment
and prepared to travel back to Woodstock, by way of villa at Blue Ridge Sum-

mit, Penna. It was to be my last year of theology before ordination. An older

Jesuit who had been extremely gracious and supportive in my earlier sum-

mers in the area invited me to his room for a drink and some serious conver-

sation. I sat on the bed and he on his desk chair as we sipped gin (no ice) from

plastic cups. His advice was direct and heartfelt. He explained that I was

young enough and smart enough to make it on my own. He was stuck. He was

too old. He had no place to go. The Society was fallingapart. It had no future,

and I would be well advised to get out while I could still make another life for

myself. His words sound shocking now, but they so fit the mood of the times

that I probably took them in stride. It's what a lot of people were saying.

The stream of departures continued for the next few years. In my short

time on provincial staff, I did some of the paperwork for dismissal for two

close friends. The decline in vocations, which seemed a momentary speed

bump, turned out to be a long lasting trend. Without question, that period of



vii

upheaval and departures left a lasting mark on the American Society. The de-

crease in numbers has had a undeniable impact on our ministries, from greater
reliance and trust in our collaborators, to cooperation and unification of prov-

inces, to judicious decisions about priorities in mission. We've grown leaner

and humbler. We can't do everything, and most of the things we do, we can't

do without help. During those years we lost some of our best and most tal-

ented and well-trained men. Their talents could not be replaced, and their de-

partures were indeed detriments to the ministries we expected them to serve.

With our diminished numbers we are no longer an organization of readily re-

placeable parts. At the same time, we have become more reliant on God's de-

signs than on human resources. We've gained freedom to move in different di-

rections, and we demand more from one another. What would the Society look

like today if we had the same numbers that we had in the early 1960s? Would

we have become muscle-bound with our corporate commitments? I wonder.

The startling number of departures certainly led to a different concept
of nurturing a productive life in the Society. It seems tragic that we had so few

institutionalized resources to help young Jesuits then. Spiritual direction was

at best sporadic, when it existed at all. The annual manifestation was brief and

perfunctory in my experience. The individually directed retreat had not yet
become the norm. Alternatives were clearly impractical because of the large
number of men involved. One crusty but wise New York Jesuit told me that

in our day, the Society let the numbers solve our problems. If you couldn't fit

in, you got out. This was not an exaggeration, as I know from personal experi-
ence. One rector told me I could "seek my tranquility elsewhere" if I was not

happy with a policy he had set. Since he was not a particularly eloquent man,

I suspect that this phrasing had been used with other Jesuits in other circum-

stances.

At the end of my summer of discontent, I went about my business of

finishing theology at Woodstock, seeking ordination and moving on. There

was no one to talk to, and in fact the idea of talking through doubts and fears

never occurred to me. My problems were my own and so were my solutions.

I went it alone. That was what we did. I hope Jesuits of later vintage read this

with a mixture of astonishment and disbelief. We've made such vast improve-
ments in our formation and pastoral care for one another over the years that

this story might have been translated from the language of another planet.
We live in another Society today, a much healthier and much more humane

Society, and I think it's fair to say that in God's unfathomable designs, much

of change can be traced to our experience of this wave of departures. As Bart

Geger points out in his study, Ignatius too profited from the painful lessons

learned from those leaving the Society.

Richard A. Blake, S.J.

Editor
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I. Introduction

The First First Companions

The Continuing Impact of the Men Who Left Ignatius

St. Ignatius made several attempts to gather companions

before he identified those who woidd actually form the So-

ciety ofJesus. Some of the activities of these earliest follow-

ers, known as Ihiguistas, imperiled the foundation of the

new order. Although their names are all but unknown to-

day, they seem to have left a mark on Ignatius as heformu-
lated thefoundational documents.

Some Jesuits might be surprised to learn that, before the official

foundation of the Society of Jesus in 1540, St. Ignatius had tried

twice to form an apostolic body of men, and failed both times.

The first defeat occurred in 1528, when he left three companions in

Spain to prepare a place for them at the University of Paris. In his ab-

sence their enthusiasm for his way of life appears to have faded, so that

the group eventually disbanded.
1 The pilgrim tried again in Paris from

1
"Autobiography," no. 80. All translations of the "Autobiography" and Spiritual

Exercises are taken from Saint Ignatius of Loyola: Personal Writings, ed. Joseph A. Munitiz

and Philip Endean (London: Penguin Books, 1996). Hereafter this source will be abbre-
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1529 to 1530, but at least three men, if not more, fell away due to resis-

tance from relatives and university authorities. 2

True to the old proverb, the third try proved the charm. Ignati-

us finally managed to recruit some students who remained with him:

Favre and Xavier, Lafnez and Bobadilla, Salmeron and Rodrigues.
3

Je-

suits fondly remember these six, along with Jay, Broet, and Codure,

who joined later, as Ignatius's "First Companions" who helped found

the Society.
4 Not widely known, however, is it that still others joined

this historic group. They too failed to persevere, with consequences

that proved nearly disastrous for the fledgling Society.

There is good reason to imagine that these departures affected

Ignatius deeply. He had formed strong emotional ties with many of

the men, as is only to be expected, considering the nature of their lives

together. They had prayed together, worked in the same ministries,

lived the same rigorous lifestyle, and labored under the same watch-

ful eye of the Inquisition. Had Church authorities judged Ignatius and

his friends guilty of heresy by associating them with the Illuminati—a

possibility that was hardly out of the question—all of them could have

been burned at the stake.5 Thus it is not surprising that Ignatius did

viated to Munitiz, Ignatius of Loyola, and the so-called "Autobiography" will be abbre-

viated to "Auto."

2
"Auto," nos. 77-78; Sancti Ignatii de Loyola Societatis Jesu fundatoris epistolx et in-

structiones (hereafter Ignatii Epistolx), 12 vols., vol. 22 of the series Monumenta Histori-

ca Societatis lesu [hereafter mhsi] (Madrid, 1903-11; reprinted in Rome, 1964-68), 1:191.

Unless noted otherwise, all translations of Ignatius's letters in this paper are from Igna-

tius of Loyola: Letters and Instructions, trans. Martin E. Palmer, ed. John W. Padberg and

John L. McCarthy (St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 2006). This source will be

abbreviated to Ignatius, Letters.

3
"Auto," no. 82.

4 For the sake of clarity, "Companions" always denotes the ten founders of the

Society.

5 The Illuminati, or "Alumbrados" in Spanish, were Catholics who claimed to

be enlightened directly by the Holy Spirit and who therefore transcended the need for

the moral norms and sacramental life of the institutional Church. For an account of

the suspicions that Ignatius and his friends were under, especially Ignatius's confessor

Manuel Miona, see John E. Longhurst, Luther's Ghost in Spain (Lawrence, Kan.: Coro-
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not give up on his friends easily. He remained in contact with many of

them, and one of his motives for returning to Spain in 1535, some sev-

en years after the dissolution of the first group, was to persuade his old

friends to rejoin his new, third group, namely, the First Companions.
6

In centuries past; histories of the

Society were written with a strong

eye to edification, and perhaps it

was feared that drawing too much

attention to these men, whose

stories were often salacious,

would scandalize Jesuits.

We should remember too that insofar as Ignatius was under con-

stant scrutiny by the Inquisition, the conduct of the "Iniguistas" (as

the townspeople called his

friends) testified to his cred-

ibility. The odd behavior of

two women who were sim-

ply devotees of the pilgrim
was sufficient to have him im-

prisoned for more than two

weeks,
7 and in Paris, the im-

prudent zeal of Ignatius's sec-

ond group prompted the In-

quisition to launch a manhunt

for him, but he was in Rouen at the time. 8 We can only imagine Ignati-
us's distress, then, when almost all of the Iniguistas left him, and even

worse, when some went on to create serious scandal.

To appreciate the anxiety that Ignatius would have experienced
as a result of the departures, two points are critical. First, during the pe-

riod between his conversion and the foundation of the Society (1521-

40), he was far more famous throughout southern Europe than is com-

monly supposed, due largely to his noble status and to the publicity
made possible by being a student at several renowned universities. 9

nado Press, 1964), 103-15,339,355; and "Saint Ignatius at Alcala, 1526-1527," Archivum

Historicum Societatis lesu 26 (1957): 252-56.

6
Fontes Narrativi de S. Ignatio de Loyola et de Societatis lesu initiis, 4 vols., vol. 66

of mhsi (Rome: Institutum historicum Societatis lesu, 1943-45), 1:185,187-88, 307, 480;

2:568-69 (hereafter FontNarr and ihsi).

7
"Auto," nos. 60-61.

8 Ibid. no. 81.

9
In the ancient and medieval Church, conversions of nobles and the wealthy ex-

ercised a special fascination on the faithful, as exemplified by Sts. Perpetua, Anthony,

and Francis. Though only of the minor nobility, Ignatius's own conversion would have

been widely perceived by his contemporaries as following in this hagiographical tradi-
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According to Polanco, when the French carried Ignatius in a stretcher

to Pamplona, he was already well known by many in the city.
10

Igna-
tius himself asserted that, to avoid being recognized, he had to leave

Montserrat in the middle of the night, and again, to pass throughMan-

resa instead of Barcelona. 11
Asa student in Barcelona, he already was

permitted to reform convents, a remarkable feat for an unordained

man without a theology degree. In Alcala "there was a great deal of

talk in the whole of [Spain]" about Ignatius and his friends. 12 The pil-

grim's easy access to civil and ecclesial officials also makes it clear that

he enjoyed a certain prominence.
13

Consequently, one former Iniguista
could write to another that news of their defections would spread "first

in Italy, then in Spain, or somewhere else in the world." 14

The second point is that, as Nadal and Polanco both affirmed, Ig-
natius had been passionate about forming an apostolic group since his

tion. See "Auto," no. 18, and Constitutions no. 161, which treats of accepting nobles and

the wealthy into the Society.

All translations of the Constitutions are taken from The Constitutions of the

Society of Jesus, trans. and ed. George E. Ganss (St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sourc-

es, 1970). For the latest and now-official edition of the Constitutions, see The Constitu-

tions of the Society of Jesus and Their Complementary Norms (St. Louis: The Institute of Je-

suit Sources, 1996). The paragraph numbers will be the same in both editions, either of

which will be abbreviated to Cons.

10
Antonio Alburquerque, ed., Diego Lamez: First Biographer of Saint Ignatius

Loyola, trans. John F. Montag (St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 2010), 99.

11
"Auto," no. 18.

12 Ibid., no. 58.

13 Ibid., nos. 53, 63. "It is noteworthy that Ignatius is in a position to make this

kind of contact over the heads of officials such as Figueroa" (Munitiz, Ignatius of Loyola,

370n.98). On Ignatius's early prominence, see also Philip Endean, "Who Do You Say

Ignatius Is? Jesuit Fundamentalism and Beyond," Studies in the Spirituality of Jesuits 19,

no. 5 (1987): 27-28.

14
Epistolae Mixtoe ex variis Europee loci ah anno 1537 ad 1556 scrip toe (hereafter Epp-

Mixt), 5 vols., vol. 12 of mhsi (Madrid, 1898-1901), 1:13 (translation mine). When over

a hundred Jesuits left the Society during a crisis caused by Rodrigues's leadership in

Portugal, certain of them were talked about as far away as Italy. See Manuel Ruiz Ju-

rado, "Admission and Dismissal in the Society of Jesus," in Constitutions of the Society

of Jesus: Incorporation of a Spirit (Rome: Centrum Ignatianum Spiritualitatis, 1993), 127.
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earliest days in Barcelona. 15 This does not mean that he was already

thinking of a canonical order. On the contrary widespread among the

faithful at this time was hope of a grass-roots reform movement in the

Church, one untainted by as-

sociations with canonical re-

ligious life, which suffered

from a reputation for laxity
and decline. Various mystics
foretold that the group would

possess twelve members at

its core, a symbolic recreation

of the Apostolic College, and

thereby restore the integrity
and simplicity of the primi-
tive Church. 16

(The Illuminati

occasionally tried to make that hope a reality, and some were burned at

the stake as a result.)
17

And, in fact, Ignatius appears to have had some-

thing like this in mind when he told people inAlcala that his group was

leading "the life or way of the apostles."
18

They decided that if any Jesuit

superior took so much as one

escudo from a sacristy for
himself he should he considered

guilty of theft and expelledfrom
the Society. Any Jesuitguilty

of assault or sexual misconduct

should he expelled also.

Why is this important? If Ignatius was convinced that forming a

group was God's will for him—a reasonable assumption in light of the

efforts and risks he took in that regard—we can only imagine his con-

sternation at the repeated defections of his friends. Was he doing some-

thing wrong? Had he sinned? Was there a problem with the Exercises ?

Was God testing him? In this light, the Jesuit historian Antonio Astrain

15
FontNnrr 1:135; 4:229.

16 On sixteenth-century preoccupation with the primitive Church, see Joseph

F. Conwell, Walking in the Spirit: A Reflection on Jeronimo Nadal's Phrase "Contemplative

Likewise in Action
"

(St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 2003), 73-99. "Auto," no. 5,

probably should be read in this context.

17 See Angela Selke de Sanchez, "Vida y muerte de Juan Lopez de Celain, alum-

brado vizcaino," Bulletin Hispanique 62 (1960): 136-62.

18
Pontes documentales de S. Ignatio de Loyola (hereafter PontDoc), vol. 115 of mhsi

(Rome, 1977), 322. See also "Auto," no. 75, and Ignatii Epistolse, 12:333- 34, or Ignatius,

Letters, 196.
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was not being indulgent when he likened Ignatius's anguish to that of

Abraham when asked to sacrifice Isaac. 19

They gave all their possessions to

the poor, including their books,

and moved to the poorhouse of St.

Jacques, where Ignatius had lived

for a time.

Although the Iniguistas were often acknowledged by Jesuit writ-

ers, only recently do they seem to be attracting more than cursory in-

terest.20 In centuries past, histories of the Society were written with a

strong eye to edification, and

perhaps it was feared that

drawing too much attention

to these men, whose stories

were often salacious, would

scandalize Jesuits. There was

also a widespread conviction

that the future Society with

all of its distinguishing char-

acteristics had been revealed to Ignatius at the Cardoner (an idea wide-

ly rejected by scholars today).
21 Perhaps as a result, historians consid-

ered the Iniguistas essentially irrelevant to the Society's story, a few

irritating delays before the pilgrim's inevitable triumph.

Today, Jesuit scholars like John O'Malley and Philip Endean pre-

fer to illustrate how many of the Society's characteristics were inspired

19 Antonio Astrain, Historia de la Compama en la Asistencia de Espaha, 7 vols. (Ma-

drid: Razony Fe, 1905-25), 1:67.

20
See Javier Osuna, Friends in the Lord, trans. Nicholas King, The Way, ser. 3

(London, 1974), 30-47; Jose Garcia de Castro, "Los primeros de Paris: Amistad, Ca-

risma y Pauta," Manresa 78 (2006): 253-75; Jaime Emilio Gonzalez Magana,
"

'We Are

of the Society of Jesus': Our Identity and Mission," Review of Ignatian Spirituality 125

(2010): 9-29.

21 Until the early-twentieth century, writers often affirmed that the Society was

divinely revealed to Ignatius at Manresa, despite indications by Ignatius and his con-

temporaries to the contrary (e.g., "Auto," no. 71, FontNarr 2:137-38, Scripta de Sancto Ig-

nacio de Loyola, 2 vols., vol. 20 of mhsi [Madrid, 1904-1918], 1:105). For many, the desire

was to legitimate the Society in the eyes of other religious orders that accused the So-

ciety of being derivative or misbegotten. More recent scholarship, unanimated by such

polemics, recognizes the origin of the Society as a gradual process. See Manuel Quera,

Los Ejercicios Espiritnales y el origen de la Compama de Jesus (Barcelona: Imprenta Revis-

ta Iberica, 1941), and Joseph de Guibert, The Jesuits: Their Spiritual Doctrine and Practice,

trans. William Young (Chicago: Loyola Press, 1964), 39M4.
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by the lived experience of the Jesuits over time, for example, their suc-

cesses, mistakes, and practical responses to exigencies.
22 A case in point

is the Society's storied commitment to education, which had not been

on the minds of the Companions when the Society was founded in

1540. Ignatius's command decision in 1546 to allow lay students to at-

tend a Jesuit school bore such fruit that the Society soon was building
schools all over Europe, notwithstanding that such institutions were

antithetical to the original vision of a peripatetic ministry.

In a similar vein, I suggest that Ignatius's experience with the

Iniguistas was highly influential on the later Society. The pilgrim made

mistakes with these men that nearly cost him the Society and his own

life. The Iniguistas also undid many of the fruits of his ministry through
scandal and treachery. If we give these remarkable facts their due, we

will not be surprised to find numerous innovations in the Constitutions

and Exercises that concern the proper discernment of a religious voca-

tion, the quality of men accepted into the Society, and the importance
of perseverance. Not coincidentally, these novelties were hugely con-

troversial from the very beginning, and they remained targets for the

Society's detractors for well over four centuries. Some of the principal
ones are:

• The extraordinary attention to perseverance in the Constitutions,

which exceeds by far what we find in the classic rules of earlier

religious communities, with the arguable (and not unrelated) ex-

ception of Cassian's Institutes.

• The leitmotif of "preserving and increasing" the Society of Jesus

in the Constitutions. 23

• Simple vows that bind individual Jesuits on their part to remain

in the Society; whereas the Society for its part is not obliged to

keep them, and can dismiss them for its own reasons, even if

they want to stay.
24

22 See John W. O'Malley, The First Jesuits (Harvard University Press, 1994); Ende-

an, "Who Do You Say?" See also Philip Sheldrake, Spirituality & History, 2nd ed. (Lon-

don: spck, 1995), 83-87.

23
Cons. no. 136 et passim, esp. Part 10 (nos. 812-82).

24 Ibid., nos. 119,120, 536.
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• The long formation of scholastics, including a two-year novi-

tiate.

• Emphasis on the character and natural gifts required to be a Je-

suit, as opposed to considering that the Society has a duty to

accept any well-intentioned applicant with desires for personal
sanctification (as was generally the case with other orders at that

time).25

• Ignatius's distinction between a core group of professed fathers,

who constitute the Society in the strict sense, and the broader So-

ciety that includes spiritual and temporal coadjutors, scholastics,

and novices.
26

• A rule in the Constitutions that forbids Jesuits from leaving the

Society for other religious orders, or accepting men from other

orders, unless the latter possessed exceptional talents.27

• Annotation 15 of the Exercises
,
where Ignatius instructs directors

not to urge religious life upon exercitants.

I cannot elaborate upon these sufficiently within the present es-

say. For now, my goal is simply to call attention to these men and to the

intriguingpossibilities they raise for any number of questions about Je-

suit history and spirituality.

For example, in March of 1541 the First Companions gathered to

deliberate the details of their new order. They decided that if any Je-

suit superior took so much as one escudo from a sacristy for himself,

he should be considered guilty of theft and expelled from the Society.

25 Ibid., nos. 144,147,151,152. The "General Examen" is startling for its rigor;

see esp. nos. 101-2. The original draft ended with an excursus in which Ignatius ac-

knowledged the primacy of grace while insisting on the legitimacy of selecting men

for their natural gifts. The Society's apostolic thrust required unprecedented quali-

fications. The excursus was deleted from later revisions of the "Examen," possibly

because it would have been perceived as Pelagian, an accusation that nevertheless

dogged the Society for centuries. For a translation of the excursus, see de Guibert,

The Jesuits, 147-48.

26
Cons. nos. 12, 511.

27 Ibid., nos. 27, 30, 99,171,172. The well-known "Carthusian exception" is not

mentioned in the Constitutions, but rather in several papal bulls that predate the final

draft of that document.
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Any Jesuit guilty of assault or sexual misconduct should be expelled
also.28 Now, considering that the Companions were idealistic men and

filled with enthusiasm for their new order, we might wonder why they
turned so quickly to unpleasant topics. On this point, Fr. Aloysius Hsii

made this observation:

[l]t is hard to suppose that these prescriptions and sanctions

were not modeled on those already in existence among the es-

tablished religious Orders. Because it is unthinkable, first of all,

that this group of six could lay down a rule as the first mentioned

above for their coming Superior General, who was of course Ig-

natius; nor, on the other hand, could the cases mentioned in the

second prescription have any relevance to the first nine compan-

ions of Loyola.
29

Fr. Hsii was correct that the above rules are inexplicable in terms

of the First Companions. Unfortunately the same cannot be said for the

Iniguistas, some of whom were guilty of theft, assault, sexual miscon-

duct, and the attempted murder of Ignatius.

In the Spiritual Exercises
, Ignatius refers to "immutable elections"

that cannot be discerned anew, as well as to the danger of accepting of-

fices and benefices for one's personal advantage instead of for the glo-

ry of God. 30 Joseph Conwell suggested that, on these points, Ignatius

might have been influenced by the experiences of Favre and Xavier,

since "

[n]one of these seems to have been particularly relevant to Ig-
natius at Manresa in his own interior struggle."

31
But, of course, immu-

table elections were wholly relevant to all the men who turned back on

their elections to follow Ignatius, and at least two of them went on to

receive ecclesial dignities, as we shall see.

28 Constitutiones Societatis Jesu, 3 vols., vols. 63, 64, and 65 of mhsi (Rome: ihsi,

1934-38), 1:40.

29
Aloysius Hsii, Dominican Presence in the Constitutions of the Society of Jesus

(Rome: Pontificia Universita Gregoriana, 1971), 7.

30

Ignatius of Loyola, The Spiritual Exercises of St. Ignatius, trans. and ed. George

E. Ganss (St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources 1992), nos. 169-89. Hereafter this

source will be abbreviated to SpEx.

31
Joseph F. Conwell, Impelling Spirit; Revisiting a Founding Experience (1539): Ig-

natius Eoyola and His Companions (Chicago: Loyola Press, 1997), 72.
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Admittedly, there is no "smoking gun" in the historical sourc-

es of which I am aware that explicitly names the Iniguistas as the in-

spiration behind any part of the Jesuit way of proceeding, although,
as I shall show, it is strongly insinuated in the "Formula of the Insti-

tute." Yet I do believe the circumstantial evidence is compelling (like

the above decrees of 1541), and all the more if we are cognizant of the

drama provoked by the Iniguistas. In Part 11, therefore, I delineate some

of what we know of these men; and in Part 111, I offer a few examples of

their relevance for our understanding of Jesuit history and spirituality.

II. The Iniguistas

The First Group (Spain): 1524-1528

In 1524 and 1525, while Ignatius was studying Latin in Barcelona,

three men chose to imitate his way of life: Calisto de Sa and Lope de

Caceres of Segovia and Juan de Arteaga of Estepa. We may reasonably
assume that Ignatius gave them the Exercises, at least in the rudimen-

tary form in which they existed at that time. At Ignatius's prompting,
Calisto first made a pilgrimage to Jerusalem.

The four friends moved to the University of Alcala in March of

1526. Ignatius lodged and worked in the hospital ofAntezana. There he

won over a seventeen year old Frenchman, Juan de Reinalde, or "Juani-

co," who had been wounded in a brawl.

This group was no accidental conjunction of like-minded per-

sonalities. Ignatius was refusing others who wished to join them, men

such as Miguel Rodis, Bartolome de Torres, and Juan Pascual. 32 His

selectivity is evidence both of his intentionality and of the existence of

certain priorities in his own mind. All wore matching outfits similar

to canonical religious and walked barefoot. The people called them

Iniguistas, meaning "followers of Inigo," and los ensacados, meaning
"sack-wearers."

Ignatius and Calisto enjoyed a special bond. Ignatius trusted him

to share in his ministry of spiritual direction to women, no small confi-

32
Stewart Rose, St. Ignatius Loyola and the Early Jesuits (London: Burns & Oates,

1891), 107; Diccionario Historico de la Compama de Jesus, Charles E. O'Neill and Joaquin

M- Dominquez, eds., 4 vols. (Madrid: Universidad Pontificia Comillas, 2001), 4:3819.
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dence at a time when the least indiscretion could result in an ecclesial

investigation. When Calisto fell gravely ill in Segovia, Ignatius walked

barefoot all the way from Alcala to obtain the merits for his recovery.

When Ignatius was arrested shortly after his return, Calisto hurried to

Alcala, although he had not yet fully recovered, and asked to share the

same cell.

Shortly after Ignatius's band arrived in Salamanca, he was in-

vited to dinner by the Dominicans. Knowing he would be questioned
about his theology,he invited Calisto to joinhim. Asa result, both men

were imprisoned together again. The group relocated yet again to the

University of Paris in 1527, after the Inquisition had placed restrictions

on their ministry in Spain.
The plan was that Ignatius

would go ahead of them to

prepare the way. Meanwhile,

the others were to complete
their studies in Salamanca.

The Iniguistas never made it

to Paris. Indeed, even before

Ignatius departed, Juanico

had left the group to become

a Franciscan. His motive is

Lainez and Polanco reported that

two became Franciscans, and that

one persevered in that vocation
,

while the other did not. The others

were a motley bunch who made

the misadventures of the earlier

Ihiguistas pale by comparison.

unknown, but it seems likely the youth was frightened by the contro-

versy surrounding his friends, and decided to join a canonically ap-

proved order. We know nothing else of his life. Caceres returned to his

hometown of Segovia. There, according to Ignatius, he lived "in such a

way as suggested that he forgot his first intention."
33

In 1538, Arteaga
became bishop of Chiapa, Mexico.

34 He remained well disposed to Ig-

33
"Auto," no. 80. The expression "first intention" (primer proposito) was ex-

tremely loaded in the religious jargon of sixteenth-century Catholicism, as it denoted

a serious religious commitment apart from a formal vow. It originated in the New Tes-

tament, where the sacred author rebukes widows for remarrying after they had dedi-

cated their lives to the service of the Church (1 Tim. 5:2). See Conwell, Impelling Spirit,

339-66.

34
For sources on Arteaga, see Diccionario Bio-Bibliogrdfico de la Compama de Jesus

en Mexico, ed. P. Francisco Zambrano, Instituto de Investigaciones Historicas de la Uni-

versidad Iberoamericana, 12 vols. (Editorial Jus, S.A. Mexico, 1961), 1:113-16.
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natius, and before he left for the New World in the spring of 1541, he

petitioned the new General for several Jesuits to staff his diocese. Ig-
natius declined. That September, Arteaga died when he accidentally
drank a bottle of clear antiseptic instead of water. The bishop who re-

placed him was the saintly Bartolome de Las Casas.

Calisto deeply embarrassed Ignatius by failing to appear in the

Portuguese court to accept a royal scholarship that Ignatius had ob-

tained by vouching on his behalf to the Dona Leonora de Mascarenhas.

She had even offered Calisto a mule and money for his travels. Instead,

he went to Mexico City with a beata named Catalina Hernandez to es-

tablish a school for native girls.35 His relationship with her provoked

scandal, and he was expelled from the city.

Over the next few years Calisto made more trips to the "Indies"

(the Americas), as was popular among Spaniards at that time, and be-

came wealthy. He then settled in Salamanca, where his lavish lifestyle
scandalized the locals who still remembered the poverty and preaching
of the Iniguistas.

36

Ignatius's outrage may be safely presumed.

The Second Group (Paris): 1528-1535

In the spring of 1529, while still in correspondence with the Ini-

guistas in Spain, Ignatius gave the Exercises to at least three students.

Juan de Castro, age 44, from a noble family in Burgos, was a distin-

guished doctoral student and a member of the Sorbonne. Pedro Per-

alta, from the diocese of Toledo, was studying for his master's degree;
likewise he was renowned for his academics. Amador de Elduayen of

the diocese of Pamplona was from a noble family, but not as intellectu-

ally illustrious as the others.

The effect of the Exercises on the three men was startling. They

gave all their possessions to the poor, including their books, and moved

to the poorhouse of St. Jacques, where Ignatius had lived for a time.

Then they went begging through the streets. The sight of the universi-

ty's "golden boys" behaving this way proved too much for friends and

colleagues, who went armed to the poorhouse to drag them back to the

35 Munitiz and Endean, St. Ignatius of Loyola, 373n.120. Beatas were Spanish lay-

women renowned for their holiness and charitable works. Many were mystics, and

were consulted by royalty and ecclesial authorities.

36 "Auto," no. 80.
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university. Between them it was decided that the three men would fin-

ish their studies, after which they could do as they pleased.

The furor probably was just winding down in July of 1529 when

Ignatius set off to visit a friend in Rouen who had fallen ill on his way

to Spain. Ignatius gave him three letters to forward to Caceres, Calis-

to, and Arteaga, an indication that he still entertained hopes of recall-

ing them to Paris. A few days later, standing in the street, the pilgrim
received word that his critics were taking advantage of his absence to

press their grievances to the Inquisition, and that, once again, the uni-

versity was in an uproar over his friends. Ignatius immediately set off

for Paris, without even going to his room to collect his belongings, and

when he arrived days later, he proceeded directly to the Inquisitor's of-

fice to defend himself. 37

The new investigations seem to have been the final straw for the

survival of the second group. Castro obtained his doctorate in October

of 1532, and in June of 1535 he entered the Carthusian charterhouse of

Val de Christo near Valencia. There he died in 1556.
38

In 1532, Peralta

began a pilgrimage to Jerusalem, but relatives had him apprehended
while passing through Italy. In 1534 he became the canon of the Cathe-

dral of Toledo, where he remained at least until 1554. Of Amador we

know nothingmore.

We find no explicit acknowledgment in the "Autobiography"
that the Parisian men considered themselves a formal group as had the

Iniguistas in Spain, or that Ignatius had intended to recruit them for

such. It is implied, however, where we read that Ignatius still wished to

form a group when he left for Paris, and again that he put those desires

on hold after Castro, Peralta, and Amador failed to persevere.
39

And

years later, Polanco explicitly referred to them as Ignatius's second at-

37 FontNarr 4:221.

38

Ignatius visited Castro in the charterhouse on his return from Azpeitia to Ven-

ice in 1535. According to Carthusians who were there at the time, Ignatius informed

Castro of the formation of the third group and its dedication to the apostolate, where-

upon Castro volunteered to rejoin Ignatius. The pilgrim declined, telling Castro that he

should honor his commitment to the Carthusians. See Daniel Bartoli, History of the Life

and Institute of St. Ignatius de Loyola, trans. Marquesa de Calderon de la Barca, 2 vols.

(New York: P.J. Kenedy, 1855), 1:245-46.

39 "Auto," nos. 71, 82.
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tempt: "They determined to leave the world and follow the way of life

of Inigo, although this second group, like the first, did not hold togeth-
er well, all three later turning back from the path they had begun, albeit

continuing to live virtuously."
40

The Third Group: Paris and Venice: 1536-1537

After the second failure, Ignatius waited two years before recruit-

ing the first six of the Companions. But his efforts were not limited to

those six. Polanco wrote of three men at the university who left Igna-
tius because he was not yet thinking of forming a canonical order. 41

And Lafnez estimated that Ignatius had "14 or 12 companions" when

he returned to Spain for a home visit in 1535.
42

Who were these men, and what happened to them? Lafnez and

Polanco reported that two became Franciscans, and that one perse-

vered in that vocation, while the other did not. 43 The others were a mot-

ley bunch who made the misadventures of the earlier Iniguistas pale by

comparison.

Jean Bochet, a Frenchman, made the Exercises under Favre in

1535. He then latched onto Favre as a companion. Bochet entered the

Society in 1541, but left shortly afterward. He became a highwayman
in Catalonia, which means that he was guilty of theft, assault, and pre-

sumably murder. He was captured and hanged.
44

Guillermo Postel, another Frenchman, was importuned by the

Companions to join their group. One of the most brilliant and famous

minds of his time, he mastered a dozen languages and wrote books on

mathematics, philosophy, theology, and linguistics. Yet he was highly
eccentric, and his work was riddled with outlandish theories. He en-

40
FontNnrr 1:179 (translation mine). See also ibid., 2:309, 560. Bartoli quoted the

Parisian Iniguistas as saying to others at the university, "If you yourselves would lis-

ten to him, perhaps you also would wish to join him" (Bartoli, History of the Life, 1:147).

41 FontNnrr 1:183.

42 Ibid., 100.

43 Ibid., 100, 183.

44

Georg Schurhammer, Francis Xavier, His Life, His Times, trans. M. Joseph Cos-

telloe, 4 vols. (Rome: ihsi, 1973), 1:253 n.59. See also The Letters and Instructions of Francis

Xavier, trans. M. Joseph Costelloe, S.J. (St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 1992).
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tered the Society in 1544, but Ignatius dismissed him two years later

for making prophecies that scandalized the faithful. According to Riba-

deneira, he was imprisoned in Rome by the Inquisition, and broke his

arm while trying to squeeze through the window of his cell. He was

imprisoned again, this time more harshly, and though he was eventu-

ally released, his writings were declared heretical. 45

Diego de Caceres was particularly close to the Companions.
46 Fa-

vre called him "our very special friend and brother in Christ."47 When

the Companions left Paris for Venice in 1537, Caceres remained behind

to finish his studies. He nonetheless made a special trip to be with them

for their deliberations of 1539, and his name appears on several docu-

ments which they drafted at that time. 48

In 1542, shortly after his ordination, Caceres left the Society and

became a spy for the French crown. He was twice captured and im-

prisoned, so that the French suspected him of being a counterspy. They
tortured Caceres and left him permanently lame.49 His sad fate and

previous association with Ignatius appear to have been widely known

throughoutFrance, as we shall see shortly.

That the First Companions considered Caceres a member of their

inner circle was acknowledged by Nadal himself, who lamented in his

lectures to Jesuits that, had it not been for Diego Hoces who died ear-

45
For sources on Postel, see Diccionario Historico de la Compania de Jesus, 4:3203.

46 It is long debated whether Lope de Caceres and Diego de Caceres were the

same person. Polanco answered negatively, Ribadeneira in the affirmative. See Juan

A. de Polanco, Vita Ignatii Loiolx et rerum Societatis lesu historica (hereafter Citron.), 6

vols., vol. 1 of mhsi (Madrid, 1898-1901), 1:33; FontNarr 1:170-171; 2:544, 567; EppMixt

1:72n.1). I consider them distinct. Among other reasons, Polanco's perspective seems

more reliable insofar as he began collecting historical data on the Society in 1546 while

working with Ignatius in Rome, that is, when reports about Diego would have been

coming to Ignatius's ears. At the same time, Ribadeneira was a teenaged scholastic in

Padua.

47 FontNarr 1:133.

48 Constitutiones Societatis lesu: Monumenta Constitutionwn prsevia (hereafter

Cons. I), 3 vols., vol. 63 of mhsi (Rome: ihsi, 1943), 1:8,13.

49
EppMixt 1:72n.1.



16 Barton T. Geger, S.J.

ly, and Caceres who "apostasized," the Companions would have num-

bered twelve, like the Apostles.
50

Miguel Landfvar was a teenager at the University of Paris who

paid his tuition by working as a manservant for Xavier. He lost his job
after his master chose to follow Ignatius in apostolic poverty. Landfvar

became so incensed that he entered Ignatius's dormitory in the middle

of the night with the intention of stabbing him. As he was climbing

Landwar asserted that the

Companions werefugitivesfrom
the Inquisition in Spain and Paris,

and that he himself had been

witness to those events. These lies
,

comingfrom a known associate of
Ignatius, were all the proof that

many needed that Ignatius was

not who he claimed to be.

the stairs, he heard a disem-

bodied voice: "You wretch!

What do you intend to do?"

Landfvar dropped the knife,

fell at Ignatius's feet, and

begged forgiveness.
51

When the Com-

panions left Paris for Ven-

ice, Landfvar followed after

them to ask admission into

their group. There he was ac-

cepted, in 1537, together with

Fr. Antonio Arias. Both were

foolish choices. Landfvar was emotionally volatile, easily manipulat-
ed, and of limited academic ability. 52 Arias appears to have been some-

thingof a conniver, and had a weakness for money. According to Favre,

he became mentally unhinged several years after leaving the Compan-

ions, when some of his own money was stolen. 53

Why Ignatius placed such trust in these two characters is a fas-

cinating question without an obvious answer. But trust them he un-

50
FontNarr 2:180. In the ancient and medieval Church, the term "apostasy" was

applied to leaving religious life for the lay state and to leaving one religious communi-

ty for another without permission. See Ignatius's letter to Cardinal Charles of Lorraine

(.Ignatii Epistolae, 11:449, or Ignatius, Letters
, 673).

51
FontNarr 2:332; 4:767. Ignatius recounted the story to Ribadeneira in 1553.

52 See EppMixt 1:11-14; FontNarr 1:202; B. Petri Fabri primi sacerdotis e Societate

Jesn Epistolx, memoriale, et processus (hereafter Faber), vol. 48 of mhsi (Madrid, 1914; re-

printed 1972), 157.

53 Faber, 7-8. See also Epistolx P. Alphonsi Salmeronis (hereafter Salmeron), 2 vols.,

vol. 30 of mhsi (Madrid, 1906-7), 1:67, 403.
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doubtedly did. When he sent the Companions to Rome to request or-

dinations and permission for a pilgrimage to the Holy Land, he was

so concerned that they make a favorable impression on the papal cu-

ria that he remained behind, lest his presence harm their chances with

churchmen who disliked him. Yet Landfvar and Arias were allowed

to go. On April 3, 1537, the group successfully charmed Pope Paul 111,

who was eating a meal at the time. He gave them the permissions they
desired and 60 escudos for the pilgrimage. Cardinals and professors

standing around the table gave them 150 escudos more.

Then, on or about April 27, while the Companions were still in

Rome and their paperwork was being processed, Landfvar and Arias

suddenly disappeared. The reason is unclear, but it seems they were at-

tracted to the charismatic preaching of Augustine Mainardi, a Francis-

can friar with Lutheran leanings, as were other Spaniards in Rome at

that time. There is also evidence to suggest that Arias had stolen some

of the Companions' funds before leaving. 54 Whatever the truth, the fact

remained that the curia had to be informed of the departures.
55 The

Companions were surely mortified.

The Companions returned to Venice to be ordained and to

await passage to the Holy Land. At some point during that interval,

Landfvar reappeared on their doorstep and pleaded to be readmitted.

Ignatius allowed him to stay in the house. The evidence is unclear

whether Ignatius intended to accept him back into the group, but the

fact that Landfvar disappeared again a few days later seems to indi-

cate the negative.

54
According to Landfvar (by no means a trustworthy source), he had been chid-

ing Arias for their defections, when Arias responded, "What do I care what [people]

say about me? How would they know if I gave the money to the poor or if [the Com-

panions] dismissed me in Rome?" (EppMixt 1:13; translation mine).

55 There is no question that the curia knew of the departures. Landfvar's name

appears on a curial document dated April 27,1537, approving ordinations for the Com-

panions (FontDo
c, 526); and another document dated April 29 mentions "twelve associ-

ates" of Favre, which would have included Landfvar, Arias, Hoces, and Ignatius (ibid.,

528). As these documents took several days to process, Landfvar and Arias were in-

cluded in them despite the fact that they had already left. For on the same date of April

29, the papal treasurer recorded funds given to only eleven companions (Schurham-

mer, Francis Xavier
,

1:339 n.226).
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In September of 1537, shortly before Ignatius, Favre, and Lafnez

left for Rome, Ignatius received a letter from Landfvar. It began with

an apology for leaving, and an admission of Landfvar's inconstancy
Landfvar continued:

The day that I left you, I had supper with Master Arias. He re-

ceived me with a happy and jovial expression, or so it seemed

to me. Before, during and after dinner he grilled me about each

one of you with skill and great efficiency, namely, about how you

were, and what you were saying about him.

I responded as well as I could regarding the first point. As for

the second, I told him that I was marveling that such a man as he,

so prudent and learned, and so in-the-know about interior and

exterior secrets, could harbor suspicions that [the Companions]
would say anythingbad or improper about anyone, or would tell

others anything about their business that was not entirely true;

and especially since their way is clearly holy and dedicated to the

apostolic life, without any of the fictions of the Illuminati or false

servants of God, who are really from the Devil. You know well

that [the Companions] work to help others, and to walk with

those who wander off the beaten path. And for doing good they
receive evil in return.

56

The remainder of Landfvar's letter suggests that he still enter-

tained hopes of one day being a Companion. To that end, he placed

most of the blame for his first defection on Arias, whom he accused of

luring him from the group. To bolster his case, Landfvar informed Ig-
natius that Arias had taken residence in the home of a pious widow,

where he scandalized her by stealing an expensive book "of secrets"

(meaning a book on the occult) and then inviting men into his roomfor

sex.
57 Landfvar told Arias that he might report him to the Pope, in re-

taliation for what Arias had done to him.

56
EppMixt 1:11-12 (translation mine). "Interior and exterior secrets" probably

alludes to the occult.

57 The mhsi editors excised that part of the letter which referred to Arias's pur-

ported sexual activity (EppMixt 1:14n.l). Its content is described by Schurhammer,

Francis Xavier, 1:363-65.
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Landfvar probably hoped that Ignatius would be pleased by that

threat. But the possibility that Arias's behavior might come to the ears

of Paul 111 (the same pope who saw Arias standing side by side with the

Companions) must have horrified Ignatius. Homosexual activity and the

occult were both popularly associated with the Illuminati, the same peo-

ple from whom Ignatius was trying so desperately to distance himself. 58

Incredibly, the story does not end there. Shortly after Ignatius,

Favre, and Lafnez settled in Rome, Landfvar appeared on their door-

step once again and asked admittance to the group. Ignatius took him

into the house, but refused his request. In retaliation, Landfvar found

Brother Augustine, and together they accused the Companions of Lu-

theranism and "immoral

behavior" (typically a eu-

phemism for sexual miscon-

duct). Landfvar asserted that

the Companions were fugi-
tives from the Inquisition in

Spain and Paris, and that he

himself had been witness to

those events. These lies, com-

Diego Hoces joined in Venice in

1536, and had he not died a little

less than two years later, he

would have been a founding

father of the Society.

ing from a known associate of Ignatius, were all the proof that many

needed that Ignatius was not who he claimed to be. Brother Augus-

tine, only too happy to turn the tables on Lafnez and Favre (who a

month before had reported him for heresy), cited Landfvar's defection

as proof of the Companions' corruption.

The uproar in Rome lasted eight months. Many said that Igna-
tius and his friends finally would burn at the stake. 59 Not surprising-

ly, two priests who were known associates of Ignatius, Lorenzo Garcia

58
Seven years after papal approbation of the Society, the Inquisitor of Rome was

still accusing Jesuits of being Illuminati, sodomites, heretics, and abusers of the confes-

sional. See Pietro Tacchi Venturi, Storia della Compagnia di Gesii in Italia
,

5 vols. (Rome:

La Civita Cattolica, 1950), 1.2:278-81.

59 FontNarr 3:110, as translated by Joseph F. Conwell, A Brief and Exact Account:

The Recollections of Simdo Rodrigues on the Origin and Progress of the Society of Jesus (St.

Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 2004), 77. See Ignatius's letter to a Franciscan who

vowed to see all Jesuits burn at the stake (Ignatii Epistolx, 1:408-9; or Ignatius, Eetters,

142), and FontNarr 1:180.
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and Mateo Pasqual, fled the city, despite Ignatius's having met with

Garcia secretly in a grotto to reassure him. Ignatius later wrote to Isa-

bel Roser that "[w]e experienced the severest opposition or persecu-

tion that we have ever experienced in this life.
. . .

[The accusers] were

making us suspect and hateful to the people, causing great scandal." 60

Finally, at a Roman trial, Ignatius cleared his name by showing
the governor the aforementioned letter in which Landfvar had praised
the Companions' orthodoxy. In punishment, Landfvar was expelled
from the city. If Ignatius had not been able to produce that letter, papal

approbation of the Society almost certainly would have been thwarted.

Garcia had known the Companions in Paris. Together with Die-

go de Caceres, he obtained a certificate of orthodoxy from the Parisian

Inquisitor on their behalf after they had left for Venice. 61 In 1538 he

was living with Ignatius in Rome, and was granted privileges along
with the Companions to preach publicly and absolve from censures.

After the Roman crisis erupted and Garcia fled, the authorities man-

aged to track him down in a small town just north of the city. They in-

terrogated him about various claims that Landfvar was making. Was it

true that Garcia overheard Ignatius boasting that he (Ignatius) would

receive greater glory in heaven than St. Paul? Garcia answered that he

had lied to Landfvar while in a bad mood, and that he had no accusa-

tion to make against the pilgrim.

Three years later, Favre was passing through Perpignan in

southern France when he encountered Garcia. Favre wrote to Igna-
tius as follows:

[H]ighly excited and with tears pouring from his eyes, [Garcia]

threw himself on his knees before me. He begged my pardon and

would rise only when I insisted on it. I was not able to get away

from him until he had tagged after me for four leagues, all the

while telling me of the sufferings he had endured since he quit

Rome and of his inmost desire to be a member of our Company

again. He insistently asked me to write for him and in his name

to beg your pardon and present his plea that you receive him

60
Ignatii Epistolae 1:137-38, or Ignatius, Letters, 35.

61 FontDoc, 524-25.
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even as one of your hirelings. I believe that without question he

will soon be on his way to Rome. 62

As if to prove the saying that there is no honor among thieves,

Garcia told Favre that Landfvar was blaming his defection partly on

Garcia, while Garcia was blaming his own defection on Pasqual.

To be sure, not all of the Iniguistas failed to persevere or creat-

ed scandal. Diego Hoces joined in Venice in 1536, and had he not died

a little less than two years later, he would have been a founding fa-

ther of the Society. The Companions' affection for him was such that

he is still called "the first to die in the Society," even though the Society
was not yet canonically approved. Manuel Miona, confessor to Ignati-
us in Spain and Paris, entered the Society in 1544. Diego de Eguia had

known the Companions at the university, as did his brother Esteban de

Eguia, a widower. Both became Jesuits. Antonio Araoz, a relative of Ig-

natius by marriage, joined the group in Venice, and in 1547 he became

the first provincial of Spain.

III. Evidence and Relevance of the Impact

The
drama provoked by the Iniguistas was considerable, to say

the least. On that basis alone one could be forgiven for assert-

ing, without further evidence, that they were deeply influential

on the Companions and their ideas for the Society Yet clues to that ef-

fect do exist.

Spiritual Exercises and "Autobiography"

Ignatius wrote in the Exercises that "one should say nothing to

defame another or to spread gossip, because if I make known a mortal

sin which is not public knowledge, I sin mortally, and if the sin is ve-

nial, I sin venially, while if it is a defect, I show my own defect."63 Ex-

ceptions were possible only

62 Faber, 156-57; Ignatii Epistolae, 1:187n.4, or as translated by William V. Bangert

in his To the Other Towns: A Life of Blessed Peter Fnvre, (San Francisco: Ignatius Press,

1959), 150.

63
SpEx no. 41.
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[w]hen the sin is public, as in the case of a public prostitute, and

where a sentence has already been passed in court, or a public

error poisons the minds of those with whom one deals
...

[or

w]hen a hidden sin is revealed to someone so that such a per-

son can help the sinner to rise from sin; however, there should be

some expectation or probable likelihood that help can be given.
64

Early Jesuits attested that Ignatius was meticulous about follow-

ing his own advice.65 This was especially evident during his tenure as

superior general, when he often was obliged to consult his aides about

the misconduct of Jesuits.

So what can it mean, then, that Ignatius explicitly named his for-

mer companions and their misdeeds in the "Autobiography," while

knowing perfectly well that his words were being recorded for posteri-

ty? If we take Ignatius at his

word, we must conclude that

knowledge of these men, their

defections, and their scan-

dals was already widespread.
Of course, we already know

this is true from other sourc-

es. But we find another hint

of it in the "Autobiography."
There, Landfvar is introduced

In other words, even ifIgnatius
and the Companions had erred

by accepting unqualifiedmen

in Spain, Paris, and Venice, the

foundingfathers of the new

Society as such had not.

to readers abruptly and by first name only: "Miguel began to cause

trouble and to speak ill of the pilgrim."
66

Clearly it was presumed that

readers already knew the story

We can conclude something else too. Ignatius was deeply con-

cerned that the Iniguistas' failures to persevere would "poison the

minds" of Jesuits unless he somehow addressed the matter. He under-

stood that Nadal and others had asked him to dictate his memoirs for

the edification of Jesuits. In this light, Ignatius would not have want-

ed the Iniguistas to be viewed as a legitimate precedent for leaving the

particular way of life that he espoused (that is, emphasis on the aposto-

64 Ibid.

65
Scripta de Sancto Ignacio 1:197, 274, 320, 331-32; FontNarr 2:389.

66 "Auto," no. 98.
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late, not long hours of prayer) and that many still regarded with suspi-
cion, including many new Jesuits!

Consequently, there is more to the "Autobiography" than meets

the eye, where we read that Arteaga became a bishop in Mexico.
67

Ig-
natius certainly did not consider episcopal ordination sinful in itself,

but the fact remains that, in the sixteenth century, it was commonly
associated with a means to riches, honor, and privilege. Many bishops,

preoccupied with benefices and other financial gains, never stepped
foot in their own dioceses, much less ministered to the faithful. Prob-

ably for that reason, a number of reputable nominees refused the bish-

opric in Mexico before Arteaga finally accepted it.68 To be clear, there is

no evidence that Arteaga was not a worthy shepherd. Nonetheless, in

this historical context, he would have been widely perceived as having
failed the ideals of the Two Standards. Ignatius would have been well

aware of that when he related Arteaga's story.

The "Formula of the Institute"

In 1539, the Companions submitted a draft of the "Formula" for

papal approval. Though all contributed to its content, Ignatius proba-

bly was its immediate author. 69 Near the end he wrote:

By experience we have learned that the path has many and great
difficulties connected with it. Consequently we have judged it

opportune to admonish those not to fall, under the appearance

of good, into these two things we have avoided.

One is [not to impose mortifications].

The other is that no one be received into the Society unless he

has first been tested for a long time and very diligently; and only
when he appears prudent in Christ and conspicuous either in

learning or in holiness of life may he be admitted into the militia

of Jesus Christ. 70

67 Ibid., no. 80.

68 Marcel Bataillon, "L'lniguiste et la Beata: Premier voyage de Calisto a Mexi-

co," Revista de historia de America 31 (1951): 62.

69 Conwell, Impelling Spirit, 21-26.

70
Cons. I, no. 20; or Antonio M. de Aldama, The Formula of the Institute: Notes for

a Commentary, trans. Ignacio Echaniz (St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 1990),
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Ignatius's words "by experience" allow for several interpreta-
tions. Perhaps the most innocuous is that the Companions logically
concluded that it would not be wise to accept immature or unskilled

men in light of the difficulties that they themselves had experienced
in their rigorous lifestyle. Thus interpreted, there is no implication

that the Companions ever

erred by accepting unquali-
fied men in the past. Indeed,

Ignatius appears to confirm

that interpretation where he

wrote that "we have avoid-

ed" that mistake.

But of course, the Com-

panions had not avoided that

mistake, not by a long shot.

Does this mean that Ignatius

was being disingenuous? Not

In Ignatius's day, religious life
(canonical or informal) was

considered a safer and surer path
to salvation than life "in the

world." Hence, monasteries and

mendicant orders generallyfelt

obliged to accept anyone who

applied, regardless of skills or

personality.

exactly. We must remember that knowledge of the Iniguistas was so

widespread that any whitewashing of history in the "Formula" would

have been easily recognized.

An alternative interpretation of the "Formula" is possible if we

grant that the First Companions understood themselves to possess a

new corporate history that began with the Pope's verbal approval of

the Society in 1539. In other words, even if Ignatius and the Compan-
ions had erred by accepting unqualified men in Spain, Paris, and Ven-

ice, the founding fathers of the new Society as such had not.

This distinction might seem like a stretch. It is not. Early Jesuits

sometimes distanced the Society from the Iniguistas by splitting some

very fine hairs. In 1555, for example, Polanco wrote to Broet about "Ca-

ceres" (presumably Diego, the French spy):

The thought came to us that the theologians' decree [against
the Society at the University of Paris] seems to imply that some

member of our Society had incurred the stigma of criminality or

infamy. While we are unable to think of anyone who might rea-

sonably have afforded a basis for such a claim, it did occur to us

20 (emphasis mine).
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that Caceres may once have said he belonged to our Society; but

Your Reverence knows that he never did. 71

Polanco's denial of Caceres's membership in the Society was

true only in the strict sense that Caceres was not professed when he

left in 1541. He participated in the Companions' deliberations of 1539,

and he lived and studied with Jesuits in Paris after the Society was

founded in 1540. And again, Nadal asserted that Caceres would have

been a founder of the Society had he not remained in Paris to finish

his studies. 72

The elderly Rodrigues, after outliving all the other Companions,

implied in his memoirs that they had never accepted Landfvar into

their group. This decision, he claimed, was based on Landfvar's poor

academic skills.73 Polanco affirmed likewise. 74 But how these two Je-

suits understood "acceptance into the group" is curious at best, since

Landfvar had stood with the Companions at the papal audience of

1537. Had he not left them, he would have been ordained with them

and received the same papal privileges as they.

Even Ignatius put Landfvar and Arias at arm's length. In 1537,

shortly after the Roman crisis ended, he wrote to Juan Verdolay, a Span-
ish priest whom he was trying to recruit for his group:

75

In mid-January nine friends of mine in the Lord arrived [in Ven-

ice] from Paris—all masters of arts and well versed in theology,
four of them Spaniards, two Frenchmen, two from Savoy, and

one from Portugal. . . .
[Two months later] they went to Rome,

along with some others who followed them with the same re-

solves, to spend Holy Week there. 76

71
Ignatii Epistolae, 8:542, or Ignatius, Letters

,
555.

72
FontNnrr 2:180. On another comment by Polanco (ibid., 1:171), Marcel Batail-

lon remarked, "Without a doubt, the first group of Iniguistas is not so completely dis-

tinct as Polanco insinuates from the group that will found the Society in 1539" (Batail-

lon, "L'lniguiste," 59; translation mine).

73
Conwell, Brief and Exact, 79.

74
FontNarr 2:590.

75

Magana, "We Are of the Society of Jesus," 17-18. Verdolay joined the Society

in 1556 but left eight years later for the Carthusians ( EppMixt 5:555-56).

76
Ignatii Epistolae 12:321, or Ignatius, Fetters, 29.
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The "others" were Landivar and Arias. Ignatius did not mention

that they later left him; perhaps Verdolay already knew. By distinguish-

ing his "friends in the Lord" from "the others," Ignatius appears to

want to imply that he had a core group untouched by inconstancy. Of

course, one could argue that in Venice perhaps Ignatius really was dis-

tinguishing between "core" and "tentative" companions. But even if

that were true, the distinction could not have been worth much if Igna-
tius still allowed Landivar and Arias to present themselves before the

Pope with so much on the line.

By way of comparison, what Ignatius wrote to a friend about

Landivar shortly before the Roman crisis broke out seems to imply
that Landivar had been accepted as one of the Companions: "Master

Miguel is here [in Venice] leading an entirely new life. Regarding him

and everything else you will enjoy hearing about I am writing at length
to Favre, from whom you can get a complete report."

77

Ignatius's words are more significant than they appear. "This

life" and "this way of life" were common metaphors in the sixteenth

century to denote canonical religious life or a private commitment to

the evangelical counsels. 78 The Companions used them often to denote

their form of apostolic life, as is evident in the "Autobiography" and

their letters. Asa result, the assertion that Landivar was leading "an en-

tirely new life" did not mean simply that he was living virtuously, but

that he had committed himself to the form of life of the Companions.

If we read the "Formula" in light of the Iniguistas, it provides

fascinating insights into the lessons Ignatius learned. That unqualified
men had been accepted "under the appearance of good" (recti specie)
could have meant several things. In Ignatius's day, religious life (ca-

nonical or informal) was considered a safer and surer path to salva-

tion than life "in the world." Hence, monasteries and mendicant or-

ders generally felt obliged to accept anyone who applied, regardless
of skills or personality. And thus, according to Ribadeneira, Ignatius

initially had accepted Landivar out of concern for the latter's salvation

and consolation. 79

77
EppMixt 1:111, or Ignatius, Letters, 25.

78
See Conwell, Impelling Spirit, 291-98.

79 FontNarr 4:767.



The First Tirst Companions 27

Another reading of recti specie is that Ignatius had been fixated on

forming the largest group possible for the sake of the "more universal

good," a Thomistic principle that he explained at length in the Consti-

tutions*0 That is, in the beginning, Ignatius might have been more pre-

occupied with quantity over quality. But if that were the case, he cer-

tainly learned from his mistake. Polanco later wrote: "Although in the

beginning Ignatius did not make it difficult to admit persons to the So-

ciety, later he began to clench his hand, and to say that, if there were

one thing that made him want

to live longer ... it would be

to make it more difficult to re-

ceive men into Society."
81

A third possibility, albe-

it more speculative, is that Ig-
natius had persuaded himself

to accept these men from a pi-

Perhaps Ignatius thought he saw

a providential sign: weak but

redeemable men who still could

become effective apostles, like the

original Twelve.

ous desire to re-create the Apostolic College. As noted earlier, many be-

lieved that the long-awaited reform movement would possess twelve

members at its core.
82 In this light, it is notable that the addition of

Landfvar and Arias in Venice brought their number to twelve (not

counting Hoces, who had not joined yet). Perhaps Ignatius thought he

saw a providential sign: weak but redeemable men who still could be-

come effective apostles, like the original Twelve.

Whatever Ignatius meant by recti specie, his affirmation that,

based on the Companions' experience, future Jesuits should not ac-

cept unqualified men under the appearance of good, certainly ap-

pears to be an allusion to the Iniguistas. That he would allude to them

80
Cons., nos. 618-32.

81
FontNnrr 3:611 (translation mine).

82
1 am unaware of any historical sources that posit re-creating the Twelve Apos-

tles as a goal of Ignatius, nor have I found it held by any modern writer. Nevertheless,

Ignatius's contemporaries often alluded to his missed chance to re-create the Twelve,

making it plausible that he had spoken to them of it, or at least that it had been on his

mind. Ribadeneira, for instance, wrote that the Companions arrived in Venice "with an-

other two companions" [namely, Landfvar and Arias], "so that together they numbered

twelve" (Epistolx S. Francisci Xaverii aliaque eius scripta, 2 vols., vol. 67 of mhsi [Rome:

1944-45], 2:820). See FontNnrr 1:466; 2:178, 180; Ignatii Epistolse, 2:52; 8:461; 12:332-33.



28 13arton T. Geger, S.J.

in such a fundamental text as the "Formula of the Institute" speaks
volumes about the influence that they had on him. It also speaks to

the Iniguistas' influence on two of the Society's distinguishing char-

acteristics, as also mentioned in the "Formula": its admissions criteria

and the long formation of its men.

First Vows in the Society

In 1535 Ignatius returned to Spain for a number of reasons: to re-

store his health in his "native air," to make amends to his townspeople
for the bad example he had set as a youth, to assure the parents of his

Companions that their sons were safe, and to try to persuade some of

his former companions to rejoin his new group. The trip, made on foot,

meant Ignatius would be separated from the Companions for almost a

year.

Looking back on that day when Ignatius said goodbye to his friends

in Paris, the elderly Rodrigues described what had been going through
their minds.

The companions mourned the fact that their Father was gone,

as was right, but because of his absence their burning desire to

persevere did not grow cold. For their hope and strength was

placed in God. For just as each one by himself, freely, before he

had heard of the vocation and determination of any other, began

to aspire to this one pattern of living, so each one firmly decided

within himself that even if the others defected, he would put his

hand to the plow and not look back. 83

Granted that Rodrigues might have been romanticizing a bit, if

we accept the essence of his account, it means that perseverance was

front and center in the collective consciousness of the Companions.

Why? Fr. Joseph Conwell suggested (not in the above context) that the

menharbored private fears that they could not persevere in such a self-

less, rigorous lifestyle until their deaths.84 This does seem likely. Never-

theless, I venture that, at the moment of their farewell, what probably

weighed even more heavily on them were the failures of Ignatius's ear-

83
FontNarr 3:28, or as translated in Conwell, Brief and Exact, 23. Note the expres-

sion "pattern of living" to refer to the vocation of the Companions.

84 Conwell, ibid., 28.
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lier groups. The first disbanded while Ignatius was away in Paris, and

the second began to unravel while he was in Rouen. How could the

Companions be sure that their own union would not dissolve during

Ignatius's long absence in Spain?

Ribadeneira insinuated this very thing in his life of Ignatius. De-

scribing the Companions' farewell in Paris, he wrote, "They would re-

main united and joined in such a way that they made a body, with the

result that neither bodily absence, norphysical distance between them,

nor interval of time, could serve to dampen the love so strong and dear

that they now had for each other in God."
85

That the Companions were preoccupied with perseverance, and

that this derived from their experience of the Iniguistas, was implied
in a short life of Ignatius written by Lafnez in 1547 (while Ignatius was

still alive), and still more strongly in Polanco's biography written a few

months later. 86 Both affirmed that Ignatius, before leaving Paris, took

measures to ensure that the group would be preserved. The first was

the vows at Montmartre. The second was to leave someone in charge,

namely Favre, something that Ignatius apparently had not done for the

first two groups. A third measure was to arrange for frequent group

meetings and reception of the sacraments.

In both accounts by Lafnez and Polanco, the paragraph that lists

the three "aids to perseverance" follows another paragraph in which

are acknowledged all the men who had already abandoned Ignatius in

Paris. By arranging their narratives in this manner, Lafnez and Polanco

implied that the vows at Montmartre were motivated largely by the

memory of the Iniguistas.

That the vows at Montmartre were as much a response to the

negative memory of the Iniguistas as a positive expression of devotion

might strike us today as a little disappointing. Nonetheless, it would

not be the last time that numerous departures from the Society prompt-
ed certain practical responses that, were one ignorant of their true ori-

gins, would still seem entirely fitting in their own right. One example is

the so-called "Arrupe Month" of prayer and reflection for men about to

be ordained, which was suggested by Fr. Arrupe in a letter to the whole

Society in December of 1979.

85
FontNarr 4:281 (translation mine).

86 For a translation of both Lives, see Alburquerque, Diego Lainez.
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Another example is Ignatius's institution of simple vows. When

the Society was founded in 1540, simple vows did not exist. Scholastics

made solemn vows only, at the end of theology studies. In the mean-

time, they were obligated to remain in the Society only insofar as they
had made a personal resolution to do so. (Some made private vows

to reinforce their resolutions.) Only six years later, however, Ignatius
became alarmed at the number of men leaving during studies. In re-

sponse, he required that they make a promise to "enter the Society"

(that is, to profess solemn vows) after their studies were complete. In

other words, as odd as it sounds, they had to promise to make a prom-

ise. 87 This was the origin of the simple, perpetual vows that are prac-

ticed to this day.

In 1547, Ignatius wrote a letter to a student at Louvain who de-

sired to enter the Society and who had formed a student community to

that end:

My second suggestion is that while you speak of vows of pover-

ty and chastity, you speak of a "resolve" [proposition], not a vow,

to enter the Society. Now, while I have no wish to induce anyone

to undertake our way of life unless called thereto by God, I want

you to know that we are normally unwilling to exercise govern-

ment over persons committed to our care unless they have con-

firmed by vow their intention of entering the Society; your gov-

ernment will be very weak over such persons who are free to

withdraw from it at will. 88

Simple vows immediately provoked ire and confusion among Je-

suits and other religious. The first reason was that, insofar as Ignati-

us had instituted them as a practical response to a particular problem,

they lacked a theological basis in a way that solemn vows did not.89 In

87
Hence the wording "I promise that I shall enter that same Society" in the for-

mula for first vows (Cons., no. 540).

88
Ignatii Epistolae, 1:661-62, or as translated in Ignatius, Letters, 228.

89 See Antonio M. de Aldama, An Introductory Commentary on the Constitutions,

trans. Aloysius J. Owen (Rome: CIS, 1989), 201-13. Ignatius did not write the formula

for simple vows. According to Polanco, a novice wrote it, Ignatius liked it, and others

began to use it (Ignatii Epistolee, 2:471). Consequently, attempts to elaborate a theology

of simple vows based on that formula should be taken with a grain of salt.
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the traditional theology of religious life, those who made solemn vows

at the end of a one-year novitiate were understood to consecrate them-

selves entirely to God. The irrevocability of that gift, that is to say, the

complete and utter surrender, was essential to that consecration, and it

defined a person as a "religious."

But Jesuit simple vows created a dilemma. Were scholastics con-

secrated to God or not? If they were, the Society had no right to expel
them for not being expedient
to the Society's mission. The

Society was presuming to in-

terfere in the private surren-

der that the scholastics had

made to God and, further-

more, the Society was plac-

ing their souls in greater peril

by sending them back into

"the world." But if scholastics

In Dominus ac Redemptor, the

hull that suppressed the Society
in 1773

, Pope Clement XIV cited

simple vows as a reasonfor the

unceasing rancor that the Society

brought to the Church.

were not consecrated, then they were not true religious. They did not

deserve to enjoy the papal privileges granted to the Society, nor to re-

ceive the graces promised in the Constitutions to those who belonged
to the Society

Simple vows were also accused of being unjust. Scholastics

swore to remain in the Society until death, but the Society for its part
made no promise to keep them, and could dismiss them at any time.

Consequently, it was argued, scholastics could not live tranquilly with

a Sword of Damocles over their heads. This particular objection was

raised so quickly that Ignatius was obliged to defend himself in a later

revision of the Constitutions:

Their being bound on their side is good, since their stability is

sought; and, as appears in the apostolic bull, it is not unjust for

the Society to have the liberty to dismiss them when their re-

maining in it is not expedient. For in that case they remain free;

and an individual can more easily fail to do his duty than the

Society or its general, who alone will be able to dismiss; and he

ought not to do it without highly sufficient reasons, as will be

seen in Part II of the Constitutions. 90

90 Cons., no. 120.
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Note that Ignatius is clear about the motive for the simple vows:

the stability of the men. He is also clear about the proper reason for

their dismissal: that which is "expedient" for the work of the Society.

The debate caused by simple vows lasted well into the twentieth

century. Pope GregoryXIII declared that scholastics were true religious
in Quanto fructuosius (1583) and Ascendente Domino (1584). He did not

offer a theological explanation for that assertion, but simply noted the

utility of simple vows for a successful apostolic order. This did not mol-

lify the critics. In Dominus ac Redemptor, the bull that suppressed the So-

ciety in 1773, Pope Clement XIV cited simple vows as a reason for the

unceasing rancor that the Society brought to the Church. In 1886, Pope
Leo XIII issued the brief Dolemus inter alias in which he defended the

Society's practice. And in 1918 Pope Benedict XV reportedly said the

following to one Jesuit Father Nalbone:

How beautiful are your simple vows! How pleasing and satisfy-

ing they are to me! They deserve to be kept in the Church and I

will not permit the Society to be deprived of so fine an ornament,

so noble a privilege. I want it to be preserved. Assure the general
that we shall leave this privilege intact. 91

Why is all this important? It taxes the imagination to suppose

that simple vows were something that Ignatius conceived a priori as the

most logical way of proceeding for an apostolic religious order, when

those vows were lacking a theological basis, when they left new Jesu-

its confused about the nature of their commitment, when they were

widely perceived as being unjust, and when they stirred unremitting

hostility toward the Society. Far more likely is it that simple vows were

Ignatius's practical response to the numerous men who left him, who

publicly embarrassed him, who had him investigated by the Inquisi-

tion, and who nearly cost him the Society.

Annotation 15: "Dealing Directly with the Creature"

Ever since Polanco's Chronicon, the standard explanation of Je-

suit historians for the defection of the Iniguistas in Spain is that they
lost their enthusiasm while Ignatius was in Paris. Be that as it may,

we should not let our devotion to Ignatius lead us to the facile conclu-

91 Cited in Aldama, Introductory Commentary, 212.
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sion that his friends were men of lesser mettle.92 To be fair, we might
ask whether the fault was entirely theirs. Is it possible that Ignatius
was such a powerful personality, so driven in his mission, that with-

out his realizing it, he had never really listened to them? Did he essen-

tially push them from Barcelona to Alcala to Salamanca despite their

hesitations? Had their decision to go to Paris really been his decision?

Or when Ignatius directed them in the Exercises, had he coerced them

into electing his way of life? If any of these speculations are even partly

true, we could forgive the Iniguistas for later losing enthusiasm.

Given what we know of the young pilgrim's passion and inex-

perience, it seems plausible that he could have fallen into the tempta-
tion of foisting his ideals on others or presuming thathis experiences of

God applied to everyone else.

When he was being investi-

gated in Alcala, he admitted

to the Inquisitor that he had

been telling people what con-

solations and desolations to

expect, and when, based on

his experience at Manresa. 93

It is also suggestive that each

of the Companions resolved

to make a pilgrimage to Jeru-

Modem writers not infrequently
contend that Ignatius believed

that each person received a unique,

particular call, which, as such,

cannot be anticipated on the

basis ofpublic revelation

and universal norms.

salem after making the Exercises (except Xavier, who made the resolu-

tion before the Exercises), a plan that just so happened to be Ignatius's

personal obsession ever since he had been expelled from the Holy Land

by the Franciscans.

These considerations have repercussions for how we interpret
annotation 15 of the Exercises

,

where Ignatius warns spiritual directors

not to impose their own ideals on exercitants, but rather, "to leave the

Creator to work directly with the creature, and the creature with the

Creator and Lord." Today, spiritual writers tend to place tremendous

weight on this text. They interpret it as Ignatius's affirmation of a criti-

92
Fr. Bartoli opined that the Iniguistas "were not strong enough to follow in the

footsteps of a giant" (Bartoli, History of the Life, 1:146).

93 FontDoc 340. See also Paul Dudon, St. Ignatius of Loyola, trans. William J.

Young (Milwaukee: Bruce Publishing, 1949), 113-15.
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cal theologicalprinciple, namely, that God communicates directly to in-

dividuals in their interiorities, as opposed to an idea commonly held in

the sixteenth century that, for most Christians, knowledge of God was

limited to the public revelation of Scripture and Tradition.

This principle, in turn, is said to embody that watershed mo-

ment in the history of Christian spirituality when attention shifted

from a medieval emphasis on universals (meaning ideas and rational

norms that apply to everyone) to the Renaissance recovery of the par-

Rather, I believe we can take heart

in the realization that the golden

age of the first Jesuits was really
no more golden than ours.

ticular (meaning the unique-

ness of each person and his or

her circumstances). 94 For ex-

ample, in the ancient and me-

dieval Church, celibacy was

widely understood as an open

invitation to all the faithful, so

that each Christian must dis-

cern his or her state of life from the standpoint that the ideal response

was already known. In contrast, modern writers not infrequently con-

tend that Ignatius believed that each person received a unique, particu-
lar call, which, as such, cannot be anticipated on the basis of public rev-

elation and universal norms.
95

But labels have consequences. The more we stress annotation 15

as a theologicalprinciple, the more readily we can conclude that a di-

rector voicing an opinion to an exercitant by its nature violates the spir-
it of the Exercises. That is, if the goal is immediate communication be-

tween God and the creature, then placing a director into that dynamic

ipsofacto interrupts that immediacy (to say nothingof directors who ac-

tively encourage or discourage exercitants). Such appears to be the pre-

supposition at work when we hear that the fundamental duty of direc-

94

E.g., Karl Rahner, "The Logic of Concrete Individual Knowledge in Ignatius

Loyola," in The Dynamic Element in the Church, translated by W. J. O'Hara (New York:

Herder and Herder, 1964), 84-170; Hans Urs von Balthasar, The Christian State of Life,

trans. Mary Lrances McCarthy (San Lrancisco: Ignatius Press, 1983), 391. John O'Malley

maintains in The First Jesuits that the spirituality and ministries of the new Society were

generally reflective of this shift, although the Jesuits themselves were often uncon-

scious of it. On annotation 15, see ibid., pp. 373-74.

95
E.g., Von Balthasar, ibid., 396; Conwell, Impelling Spirit, 312.
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tors is to "get out of the way," and even in one case, that directors are a

"walking contradiction." 96

Ignatius's experience with the Iniguistas provides us with an al-

ternative approach to annotation 15. What if he meant it not so much

as a theological principle as a practical warning? In other words, per-

haps Ignatius simply wanted exercitants to be satisfied that the elec-

tions they made were truly theirs, and not their directors'.

In 1554 Dr. Bartholome de Torres (an early friend of the Society) de-

fended annotation 15 in just this manner.

[F]or the one giving the Exercises, it is indeed licit to persuade
and counsel the one who makes the Exercises to enter religious
life. Fr. Ignatius does not deny this. He does not say that one who

gives the Exercises acts wrongly in counselling one to enter reli-

gious life, but rather he says that one should notpush him [impel-
lere] into religious life. He wants to say that one should not force

or compel aggressively [forgar e induzir con algima violentia], but

rather leave him in freedom. 97

The following year, Ignatius made the same point to Fr. Juan Vi-

toria. In the latter's words, Ignatius explained that

[a director should not urge an exercitant] to choose one or anoth-

er state, unless the exercitant already feels himself inclined to a

particular state and has told him this, then he may, after careful

reflection (and supposing, as I have said, that he has permission)

tell the exercitant what he thinks in the presence of the Lord, if he

judges that saying it at that point might confirm the exercitant in

his good resolve or help him to turn away from something that is

less good and to place himself back in God's hands to be guided

by him. But, as I have said, he must constantly be on guard not to

talk about anything which might suggest that he is trying to push

96 Frank Wallace, "Spiritual Direction," in The Christian Ministry of Spiritual Di-

rection, The Best of the Review, no. 3, edited by David Fleming (St. Louis: Review for

Religious, 1988), 88-89.

97 Exercitia Spiritnalia Sancti Ignatii de Loyola et eornm Directoria, 2 vols., vol. 19 of

mhsi (Rome: ihsi, 1919), 1:657 (translation mine). See also Dr. Vergara's explanation of

annotation 15 (ibid., 672-73).
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him toward the Society. This would be against the rule of the Ex-

ercises [annotation 15] and against the purity of the spirit of the

Society which does not want anyone to be moved to enter the So-

ciety otherwise than by free choice and at God's will and prompt-

ing. ... Moreover, with the exercitant having been moved at such

a time by the advice or efforts of a mortal human, the door will

always be open for the devil to tempt himby suggesting that had

it not been for the influence of so-and-so's advice, he would nev-

er have taken such a step, and that the idea came from a human

being, and humans are nearly always wrong. And so the devil

will always have this temptation at hand. 98

Note that what Ignatius affirmed is quite contrary to what many

today would consider good spiritual direction. Directors may deliber-

ately encourage exercitants in a decision to which they are leaning, and

what is more startling, they may dissuade them from choosing that

which is simply less good than the alternative! 99

Ignatius was also clear about the motive behind his counsel: to

ensure that no one entered the Society without being convinced that

it was his decision. Ignatius was speaking from experience. While he

was general, many Jesuits had already left the Society, and had justified

themselves, rightly or not, on the grounds that their directors had been

too aggressive in pushing a Jesuit vocation.
100

Ignatius's hard-won wis-

dom found its way into the "General Examen," where he counseled Je-

suits who were entrusted with interviewing candidates.

If [the candidate] says that he was not moved by any member of

the Society, the examiner should proceed. If the candidate says

that he was so moved (and it is granted that one could licitly
and meritoriously move him thus), it would seem to be more

98 Ibid., 2:95. See also Martin E. Palmer, trans., "Directory Dictated to Father

Juan Alonso de Vitoria," in Giving the Spiritual Exercises: The Early Jesuit Manuscript Di-

rectories and the Official Directory of 1599 (St. Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 1996),

18.

99 See SpEx no. 333.

100
Ignatii Epistolee 13:677; Salmeron 1:18; EppMixt 2:257; Chron., 1:433, 3:48. See

Ignacio Iparraguire, Prdctica de los Ejercicios de San Ignacio de Eoyola en Vida de su Alitor

(Bilbao: Mensajero, 1946), 101-2,192-201.
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conducive to his spiritual progress to give him a period of some

time, in order that, by reflecting on the matter, he may commend

himself completely to his Creator and Lord as if no member of

the Society had moved him, so that he may be able to proceed
with greater spiritual energies for the greater service and glory of

the Divine Majesty.
101

Obviously we cannot give Ignatius's doctrine a nuanced treat-

ment here. My sole intention at the moment is to illustrate how the

practical experience of the Companions regarding the Iniguistas can

have implications for our understanding of Ignatian discernment. Da-

vid Fleming once likened spiritual direction to a "three-way conversa-

tion" between God, the exercitant, and the director. 102
I propose that

this "communitarian" description, in which directors are more promi-
nent in theory if not in practice, is more true to what Ignatius had in

mind than an alternative model widely held today, whereby directors

are admitted with apologies into a private conversation between God

and his creatures.

Conclusion

When
Polanco recounted the death of Pierre Favre in his life of

Ignatius, he made the seemingly casual remark that Favre

was the first to persevere in the Society.
103

Looking back, we

know that remark was anything but casual. Both Polanco and the Jesu-

its for whom he was writing were all too aware of the trauma caused

by the men who left Ignatius. And the memory lingered. In 1565 Supe-
rior General Francisco Borja received a letter from a bishop who related

that he frequently had seen Arteaga and Calisto conversing in Mexico

City.
104 That these men were still being discussed thirty-five years af-

ter leaving Ignatius gives us a sense of the impression they left behind.

101
Cons., no. 51.

102 David L. Fleming, Like the Lightning ,

The Dynamics of the Ignatian Exercises (St.

Louis: The Institute of Jesuit Sources, 2004), 12.

103
FontNarr 1:182.

104 Ibid., 171 n.lO.
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The Iniguistas certainly bring to the light the seamier side of the

Society's early history My intent was not to be sensational for its own

sake. Rather, I believe we can take heart in the realization that the gold-
en age of the first Jesuits was really no more golden than ours. The First

Companions had to contend with scandal, pettiness, and departures

just as much as we do. Truth be told, even one of our founding fathers,

Simao Rodrigues, once tried to flee the Companions in the middle of

the night to become a hermit! 105 At the time, he was unconvinced by Ig-

natius's arguments that the apostolic life could serve his own sanctity
as much as the contemplative life. Rodrigues received a scolding from

the pilgrim upon his return.

Strange as it might sound, I am consoled by such stories. They
remove some of the romantic gloss surrounding these men, but just

some
,
for most of it is legitimate. But only then will we see the fallacy of

suspecting (as perhaps many Jesuits do from time to time) that we fall

short of the wisdom and fidelity of the First Companions, and that the

departures and scandals we experience are somehow indicative of the

same. And then, what is more important, we will find it easier to accept
that the holiness of the First Companions is ours as well.

105 Ibid., 3:45-47,4:263. See also Conwell, Briefand Exact, 34-36; Dudon, Ignatius

Loyola, 239-40 (Dudon confuses Rodrigues with Le Jay).
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